
222

Governance Committee
Monday, 10th September, 
2018 at 5.00 pm

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING
Committee Room 1 - Civic Centre

This meeting is open to the public

Members of the Committee

Councillor Keogh (Chair)
Councillor Harwood
Councillor Kataria
Councillor Noon
Councillor Parnell
Councillor White
Councillor Whitbread

Contacts

Director of Legal and Governance
Richard Ivory
Tel. 023 8083 2394
Email: richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

Senior Democratic Support Officer
Claire Heather
Tel. 023 8083 2412
Email: claire.heather@southampton.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



2

PUBLIC INFORMATION
Role of the Governance Committee Smoking policy – The Council operates a 

no-smoking policy in all civic buildings.
Mobile Telephones:- Please switch your 
mobile telephones to silent whilst in the 
meeting 
Use of Social Media:- The Council supports 
the video or audio recording of meetings 
open to the public, for either live or 
subsequent broadcast. However, if, in the 
Chair’s opinion, a person filming or recording 
a meeting or taking photographs is 
interrupting proceedings or causing a 
disturbance, under the Council’s Standing 
Orders the person can be ordered to stop 
their activity, or to leave the meeting.

Information regarding the role of the 
Committee’s is contained in Part 2 
(Articles) of the Council’s Constitution.

02 Part 2 - Articles

It includes at least one Councillor from 
each of the political groups represented 
on the Council, and at least one 
independent person, without voting rights, 
who is not a Councillor or an Officer of the 
Council.
Access – Access is available for disabled 
people. Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements.

Public Representations At the discretion 
of the Chair, members of the public may 
address the meeting on any report included 
on the agenda in which they have a relevant 
interest. Any member of the public wishing to 
address the meeting should advise the 
Democratic Support Officer (DSO) whose 
contact details are on the front sheet of the 
agenda

By entering the meeting room you are 
consenting to being recorded and to the use 
of those images and recordings for 
broadcasting and or/training purposes. The 
meeting may be recorded by the press or 
members of the public.
Any person or organisation filming, recording 
or broadcasting any meeting of the Council 
is responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them doing so.
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the 
recording of meetings is available on the 
Council’s website.

Fire Procedure – in the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take.

The Southampton City Council Strategy 
(2016-2020) is a key document and sets out 
the four key outcomes that make up our 
vision.

 Southampton has strong and 
sustainable economic growth

 Children and young people get a good 
start in life 

 People in Southampton live safe, 
healthy, independent lives

 Southampton is an attractive modern 
City, where people are proud to live 
and work

Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 
2018/19

2018 2019

11th June 11th February 

30th July 15th April

10th September

12th November

10th December

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/02%20Part%202%20(Articles)_tcm46-262438.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf


3

CONDUCT OF MEETING

Terms of Reference Business to be discussed

Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this meeting.

Quorum

The terms of reference of the Governance 
Committee are contained in Part 3 of the 
Council’s Constitution.

03 - Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance to 
hold the meeting is 3.

Rules of Procedure

The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, 
both the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest”  
they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda.

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
any matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or 
wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to: 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(ii) Sponsorship:
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton 
City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense 
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of 
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the 
you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under 
which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has 
not been fully discharged.
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton.
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
Southampton for a month or longer.
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and 
the tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests.
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) 
has a place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either:

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body, or

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value 
of the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial 
interest that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/03%20Part%203%20(Responsibility%20for%20Functions)_tcm46-160529.pdf


4

Other Interests

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any 
membership of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in:

Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council

Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature

Any body directed to charitable purposes

Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy

Principles of Decision Making

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:-

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);
 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;
 respect for human rights;
 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency;
 setting out what options have been considered;
 setting out reasons for the decision; and
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must:

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  
The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law;

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 
authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account);

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations;
 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;
 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known 

as the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle);
 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual 

basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness.



5

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies.

2  DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting.

3  STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR 

4  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)
(Pages 1 - 4)

To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 30th July 
2018 and to deal with any matters arising. 

5  APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR 

To appoint a Vice-Chair for the remainder of the Municipal Year.

6  ANNUAL REPORT ON THE MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 5 - 10)

To consider the report of the Director of Legal and Governance detailing 
considerations and any further updates to the Members' Code of Conduct.

7  SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY FOR MEMBERS (Pages 11 - 20)

Report of the Director of Legal and Governance proposing a new Social Media Policy 
for Members.

8  RISK MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN 2018-19 : STATUS REPORT (Pages 21 - 26)

Report of the Chief Finance Officer detailing the current status of the Risk 
Management Action Plan.

9  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2018-19 (Pages 27 - 50)

Report of the Chief Internal Auditor detailing progress of the 2018-19 Internal Audit 
report.

10  QUARTERLY HR STATISTICS (Pages 51 - 54)

Report of Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development detailing 
Quarter 1 Human Resources Casework.

Friday, 31 August 2018 Director of Legal and Governance



This page is intentionally left blank



- 4 -

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 30 JULY 2018

Present: Councillors Keogh (Chair), Harwood, Laurent, J Baillie, Noon and 
Whitbread

13. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP 
The Committee noted the resignation of Councillors Parnell and White and the 
appointment of Councillors Laurent and J Baillie respectfully in place thereof in 
accordance with the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 4.3.

14. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) 
RESOLVED: that the minutes for the Committee meeting on 11th June 2018 be 
approved and signed as a correct record.

15. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION, DATA PROTECTION & REGULATION OF 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACTS: ANNUAL REVIEW 2017-18 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Director of Legal and Governance 
detailing statistical information for the financial year 2017/18, the thirteenth year of 
implementation of the Freedom of Information Act and associated legislation.  The 
report also detailed statistical information on requests received under the Data 
Protection Act 1998 and the Council’s activity under the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000. In addition the report provided Members with an awareness of the 
implementation of the new Data Protection legislation in May 2018, the General Data 
Protection Regulation and the Data Protection Act 2018 and the impact on the Council.

16. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2017/18 
The Committee considered the report of the Section 151 Officer (S151) detailing the 
Financial Statements 2017/18.  The Committee noted that in accordance with the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 Financial Statements had been signed by the 
S151 Officer on 8th May 2018 which was earlier than the statutory requirement to have 
the statements signed by 31st May.  The Committee noted that the year-end audit, 
carried out by Ernst Young Auditors had commenced on 21st May 2018 and was due to 
be completed prior to this meeting.  The report detailed the findings to date, noted in the 
draft annual report of any major changes to the Financial Statements arising from the 
annual audit and any further changes would be presented at the meeting.  The 
Committee particularly noted that Studio 144 had been reclassified from an Investment 
Property (IP) to Property (P) and a consequential change in basis of valuation and that 
since publication of the report the Council at its Full Council meeting on 18th July 2018 
had terminated its contract with Capita. 

RESOLVED:
(i) that the changes to the Financial Statements 2017/18 as a result of the 

annual audit as detailed in paragraphs 5-8 and appendix 1 of the report be 
noted;

(ii) that the audited Financial Statements 2017/18 be approved;

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



- 5 -

(iii) that the Committee receive a report from management at a future date 
regarding the plans being put in place to address the value for money 
conclusion; and 

(iv) that the team be congratulated for their hard work in achieving early sign off 
of the accounts.

17. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017-18 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Financial Officer detailing the Annual 
Governance Statement 2017/18 which in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations the Council was required to develop and publish.

RESOLVED: that the final draft of the 2017/18 Annual Governance Statement as 
detailed in Appendix 1 of the report be approved.

18. EXTERNAL AUDIT - AUDIT RESULTS 
The Committee considered the report of the External Auditor summarising the findings 
from the 2017/18 audit and which provided an overview arising from the audit of the 
Council’s Financial Statements and the results of the work undertaken to assess the 
Council’s arrangements to secure value for money in its use of resources.  

The Committee noted that the letter of representation which had been circulated with 
the papers and required approval needed to be amended to reflect recent events that 
had taken place with the Council and Capita.  To discuss the detail of the amended 
letter of representation the Committee were required to enter into confidential session.

The Chair moved in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public 
be excluded from the discussions relating to the letter of representation based on 
Category 3 of Paragraph 10.4 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  The 
information contained therein was potentially exempt as it related to Information relating 
the Financial or Business Affairs of any particular person (including the Authority 
holding that information).  Having applied the public interest test it was not appropriate 
to disclose the information.

RESOLVED:
(i) That the external auditor’s “Audit Results Report” as detailed in Appendix 1 of 

the report be noted;
(ii) That the amended letter of representation as discussed in confidential 

session be approved; and 
(iii) That the revised “Audit Opinion” be circulated to Members of the Committee.

19. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 2017-18 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Internal Auditor detailing the 
Annual Internal Audit Opinion 2017/18 which was required in accordance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards on an annual basis to provide an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s framework of risk management, internal 
control and governance.

The Committee noted that the annual opinion for 2017/18 was that “limited assurance” 
could be provided.  Four audit opinion levels were in place and these were: no 
assurance, limited assurance, reasonable assurance and full assurance.  Where there 

Page 2



- 6 -

were mainly medium or low risk exceptions the annual audit opinion would be 
reasonable or full assurance.  During the course of the year 78 high risk exceptions 
were raised along with 34 medium and 19 low hence the “limited assurance” however 
the Committee noted that this was in keeping with similar Unitary Authority 
comparators.

The Committee requested that within the next annual report there be a reminder of the 
“high risks” albeit they noted these would have been detailed in the progress reports 
throughout the year. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: ANNUAL REPORT ON THE MEMBERS’ CODE OF 

CONDUCT
DATE OF DECISION: 10TH SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LEGAL & GOVERNANCE AND 

MONITORING OFFICER
CONTACT DETAILS

AUTHOR: Name: Richard Ivory Tel: 023 8083 2794
E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Richard Ivory Tel: 023 8083 2794
E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None

BRIEF SUMMARY
At the time of the adoption of current code of conduct for members in 2012 the 
Council requested the Director of Legal and Governance to produce an annual report 
outlining the impact of the new code, a summary of the complaints received and any 
action taken.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) The Committee is asked to note this annual report for the year 
2017/18.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Unless there are any changes required to be made to either the Code or the 

procedures for investigation, this report is only for noting.
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None.
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. The Governance Committee has the following terms of reference in relation 

to corporate governance and Code of Conduct issues:

 To lead on the Council’s duties under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011 and to design, implement, monitor, approve and review the 
standards of ethics and probity of the Council, both for Councillors and 
employees. The Committee’s powers shall include responding to 
consultation documents and the promulgation of Codes of Conduct but 
the adoption and revisions to the local Members Code of Conduct 
shall be reserved to the Council.

 To promote a culture of openness, ready accountability and probity in 
order to ensure the highest standards of conduct of Councillors and 
employees.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 To lead on all aspects of Corporate Governance by promoting the 
values of putting people first, valuing public service and creating a 
norm of the highest standards of personal conduct.

 To lead on all aspects of Corporate Governance by promoting the 
values of putting people first, valuing public service and creating a 
norm of the highest standards of personal conduct.

 To oversee and manage programmes of guidance, advice and training 
on ethics, standards and probity for Councillors and employees and on 
the Members Code of Conduct.

 To be responsible for the Council’s register of Members’ interests and 
to receive reports from the Monitoring Officer and Service Director: 
Legal and Governance on the operation of the register from time to 
time.

 To be responsible for written guidance and advice on the operation of 
the system of declarations of Members’ Interests and to receive 
reports form the Monitoring Officer on the operation of the system of 
declarations from time to time.

 To establish, monitor, approve and issue advice and guidance to 
Councillors on a system of dispensations to speak on, or participate in, 
matters in which they have interests and give dispensation in 
appropriate cases.

 To exercise the functions of the Council in relation to the ethical 
framework, corporate governance and standards of conduct of Joint 
Committees and other bodies

 To establish a Standards Sub-Committee to investigate and determine 
appropriate action in respect of alleged breaches of the Members 
Code of Conduct.

 To support the Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer in their 
statutory roles and the issuing of guidance on them from time to time.

 To receive regular reports on the performance of the Corporate 
Complaints process, Local Government Ombudsman referrals, Annual 
Governance Statement and Code of Corporate Governance and to 
recommend revisions to related policies and procedures as 
appropriate.

4. The Council has a responsibility for making arrangements to receive and 
consider complaints against Councillors in Southampton. Stage 1 is receipt 
and initial consideration and where appropriate informal resolution by the 
Monitoring Officer. Where warranted, at Stage 2, the Governance Committee 
will determine the complaint following a detailed investigation by the 
Monitoring Officer or someone on his behalf.

5. Since the adoption of the current Members Code of Conduct the Standards 
Sub Committee has not had cause to meet to consider any allegations of 
breach of the Members Code of Conduct.

COMPLAINTS RECEIVED
6. The Council adopted a revised Members’ Code of Conduct consistent with 

the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 on 11th July 2012. 
Page 6



7. In summary, the regime remains fairly low key. All members have completed 
their Register of Interests, are reminded annually of the need to keep it 
updated (the Register is publicly accessible and viewable online) and a few 
complaints have been received. All issues/complaints have been resolved by 
the Monitoring Officer, investigated as appropriate and/ or rejected and 
advice given to the complainant at Stage 1 of the complaints procedure 
meaning that there have been no determinations or findings of a failure to 
comply with the relevant Code of Conduct by the committee.

8. The Monitoring Officer (Director of Legal & Governance) received 7 
complaints about Councillors in 2017/8 which required preliminary 
investigation.  There are no trends in terms of the subjects specified in 
complaints.

9. All complaints are taken seriously and investigated as appropriate. In order 
to be considered under the formal complaints process complaints must be 
submitted in writing, must provide substantiated information, and should 
outline what form of resolution the complainant is seeking. When a complaint 
does not meet these criteria and does not reveal a potential breach of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct it is treated as a ‘general enquiry’.  This means 
that the Monitoring Officer responds to the complainant in writing explaining 
why the matters complained of do not constitute a potential breach of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. Occasionally due to capacity or other reasons 
that the Monitoring Officer deems appropriate independent, external 
assistance may be sought to assist in determining complaints. This 
happened once last year.

10. When a written complaint is submitted which provides the relevant 
information, the Monitoring Officer will consider and make a decision as to 
whether it will be treated as a valid complaint or not. Where it is considered 
valid the Monitoring Officer may deal with the matter under delegated powers 
unless, after consultation with the Designated Independent Person, it is 
considered that the breach is potentially serious enough to merit putting 
before the Standards Sub Committee for determination. None met that 
threshold.

11. The complaints submitted about Southampton City Councillors in 2017/8 
related to the following matters:

Behaviour alleged Outcomes & 
reasons

Source of 
complaint

No of complaints

Conflict of Interests No breaches Member/public 3 (all related to the 
same core issue)

Rudeness Informal apology Public 1
Behaviour Informal apology Public 1
Rudeness No evidence Public 1
Rudeness Not acting as a 

member
Public 1

DESIGNATED INDEPENDENT PERSON
12. The Designated Independent Person appointed under the Act (David 

Basson) has been consulted on emerging issues and complaints as 
appropriate and meets regularly with the Monitoring Officer to talk through Page 7



issues arising. Training has been provided to him as necessary.  Mr Basson 
has been invited to attend Governance Committee for this item.

APPLICATIONS FOR DISPENSATION
13. If a Member wishes to apply for a dispensation to allow them to take part in a 

meeting with a disclosable pecuniary interest they must submit a written 
application to the Monitoring Officer. Applications are then decided by him or 
by the Governance Committee. 

14. The Localism Act 2011 substantially changed the rules on interests.  
Regretfully it was incomplete in order to permit members to carry out their full 
duties in relation to being able to vote on the budget. Annually before Full 
Council all Members are granted a blanket dispensation by the Monitoring 
Officer to allow them to take part in the decision to approve the Council’s 
budget.

15. No other dispensations have been applied for.
SUPPORTING MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
16. Training has previously been provided to newly elected members, and as 

required for new Cabinet Members and those members who sit on regulatory 
bodies such as Licensing Committee and the Planning and Rights of Way 
Panel.

17. Importantly, the adopted Member Learning and Development strategy has 
been implemented and member training via external partners, such as the 
LGA and SEE, has increased. Group Leaders have committed to increasing 
member development at all levels of office to better support members in 
discharging their roles.

GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY
18. The requirement for members to register any gifts or hospitality received in 

their capacity as an elected member is currently set at a minimum of £50.  
Minimal notifications have been made which probably reflects the limited 
quantity and value of any received. This requirement does, however, exclude 
anything relevant to elected members who are the Mayor or Sherriff when 
acting in those capacities.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
19. None.
Property/Other
20. None.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
21. Chapter 7 Localism Act 2011.
Other Legal Implications: 
22. None.
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
23. None. Page 8



POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
24. None.

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. None
2.
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
2.
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out?

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out?  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None
2.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
COUNCIL

SUBJECT: SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY FOR MEMBERS
DATE OF DECISION: 10 SEPTEMBER 2018

19 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: SERVICE DIRECTOR: LEGAL & GOVERNANCE

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Richard Ivory Tel: 023 8083 2794

E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: Richard Ivory Tel: 023 8083 2794

E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
N/A

BRIEF SUMMARY
This report recommends the adoption of guidelines covering the use of social media by 
Members of the Council in order to encourage and promote sharing of information in 
line with popular and emerging channels of communication with the public whilst 
ensuring that all relevant legal, conduct and reputational requirements and conventions 
are met.
RECOMMENDATIONS:  GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

(i) To consider the enclosed guidance on social media matters for 
Members and recommend its approval to Council for inclusion in the 
Council’s Constitution.

RECOMMENDATIONS:  COUNCIL
(i) To approve the adoption of the ‘Social Media Matters – A Guide for 

Members’ document for inclusion in the Council’s Constitution.
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. The guidance has been developed for Councillors who would like to use 

social media as a tool to share information, open new dialogues with the 
people in their communities and beyond, and engage publicly in productive 
and immediate two-way conversation whilst observing all relevant legal, 
conduct and reputational matters inherent in use of social media channels.  It 
should be read alongside the Members Code of Conduct and relevant 
protocols.  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. Not to provide guidance for Members 
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. Social media is increasingly popular form of communication for individuals and 

organisations and is used both socially and for business.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk


Social media is used to describe any kind of on-line tool that you can use for 
sharing what you know, including blogs, photo sharing, video sharing, social 
networks and mobile phone applications.

4. This guide has been developed for Councillors who would like to use social 
media as a tool to share information, open new dialogues with the people in 
their communities and beyond, and engage publicly in productive and 
immediate two-way conversation whilst advising them of the relevant legal 
requirements they may be subject to in public office, the Code of Conduct 
requirements they may be subject to and any other reputational and other 
considerations to be aware of whilst using this type of communication media.

5. The guidance is intended to supplement the Members Code of Conduct and 
other protocols and guidance already set out in the Constitution.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
6. N/A
Property/Other
7. N/A
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
8. S.1 Localism Act 2011.
9. The inclusion of the Guidance within the Council’s Constitution is permitted 

and governed by the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000. 
Other Legal Implications: 
10. The proposed guidance has been drafted having regard to the Equalities Act 

2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998 (particularly but not exclusively in 
relation to the rights and freedoms protected in relation to freedom of thought 
conscience and religion and freedom of expression).

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
11. The adoption of the guidance will provide an additional tool to preserve and 

encourage good practice and observance of relevant legal and governance 
requirements Members are subject to in the performance of their duties. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
12. The guidance, if adopted, will be read in conjunction with the Code of Conduct 

for Members and other Protocols and guidance contained within the Council’s 
Constitution. 

KEY DECISION? No Page 12



WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: N/A
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. Draft Social Media Policy for Members
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
2.
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1.
2.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



SOCIAL MEDIA MATTERS - A GUIDE FOR MEMBERS

CONTENTS

1 Introduction
2 What is social media?
3 Why use social media?
4 How to use social media?
5 Social media and the law
6 At a glance - some do’s and don’ts
7 Glossary of terms

1 INTRODUCTION

Social media is increasingly popular form of communication for individuals and organisations 
and is used both socially and for business.

Social media is used to describe any kind of on-line tool that you can use for sharing what you 
know, including blogs, photo sharing, video sharing, social networks and mobile phone 
applications.

Unlike a telephone conversation or email, it is an interactive broadcast medium – your 
messages are likely to be viewed by a much wider range of people than just the intended 
recipient.  This also means that once your message is out there on social media there is no 
delete button!  Even if you delete a post it’s likely someone could have seen it and shared it.  
The golden rules then are:

 Think before you tweet/post anything – never publish anything you wouldn’t be happy 
being formally recorded

 Do not comment, post or tweet anything when you are angry, tired or have consumed 
alcohol

With this caution in mind, there are many benefits to engaging with social media.  It’s simple 
and free to use.  It can give you a personal connection and dialogue with different types of 
residents that you may not reach via other channels.  Conversations are already happening 
out there – this is your opportunity to get involved!

This guide has been developed for Councillors who would like to use social media as a tool to 
share information, open new dialogues with the people in their communities and beyond, and 
engage publicly in productive and immediate two-way conversation.  Please read it alongside 
the Members Code of Conduct and relevant protocols.  Read on to see how making effective 
use of social media can make you more connected as a councillor.

2 WHAT IS SOCIAL MEDIA?

 Most of us will be familiar with social media; it’s a collective term used to describe easy 
ways to create and publish on the internet

 Whats App?, Facebook, Instagram, You Tube and Twitter are the most popular social 
media sites

Page 15

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



It is also easy to set up a blog – an online journal where you can share information, activities 
and the things that mean the most to you.

Some good sites to get started include:

www.wordpress.org
www.tumblr.com
www.plus.google.com (you will need to set up a Google account)

3 WHY USE SOCIAL MEDIA?

 Social media offers an easy way to talk and to listen to residents, local businesses and 
other partner organisations – you have the potential to establish direct two-way 
communication with all of them

 It is a valuable way of finding out what people are talking about locally, and globally, and 
their concerns and interests

 It’s a useful way of finding out about breaking news, the latest news, the latest research or 
policy announcements from political parties

 It’s a good way of making your communities more aware of the work you do
 Social media is mobile and instant – you can take it around your community or wherever 

you are out and about
 You can upload pictures and videos – so you could share for example pictures of you at a 

local event, or potential sites for development, new buildings, old buildings …a picture can 
tell a thousand words

 It’s free.  Accounts cost nothing, and it’s likely you already have the equipment you need 
– devices that access the internet

4 HOW TO USE SOCIAL MEDIA

 When you set up an account, consider what name you use.  For your professional role it 
will help people to find you if you preface with ‘Cllr’

 Remember that your contact details, excluding your home address, are published on the 
Council website, so for example saying that you are enjoying two weeks abroad on holiday, 
is letting people know that your house is empty.

Remember who can see what:

Facebook You can control who has access to different parts of your account, and manage 
what the world sees, and what your “friends” see but please be aware that your ‘friends’ may 
refer to your comments in the public arena, where it is possible for your comments to be taken 
out of context.

Twitter The whole world can potentially see everything that you tweet.  Your tweets will appear 
on all of your “followers” feeds, and each of them can re-tweet – so all of their followers can 
see your tweet – and so on.
 Make it easy for people to find you – many people will search for the area you represent, 

so make sure you mention your location frequently.
 You can use (and search by) the ‘hashtag’ ( # ) for example #Longlevens, #FoD,

Page 16



 #Southampton - so search by # to help find what people are talking about in your area, 
and include a # to help people find you

 Increase your friends and followers, and your reach by following, linking and re-tweeting 
other people and sites

 Do take the time to look after your social media accounts – your ‘friends’ and ‘followers’ 
will expect quick responses to any queries, and you will only get more friends and 
followers, or increase your ‘reach’ by updating your accounts regularly

 That said, don’t be drawn into negative or emotionally driven conversations – ‘trolls’, or 
deliberately disruptive posters will often deliberately try to invoke a reaction/anger 

 Remember social media is about two-way conversation – you will get feedback, and some 
of it may be challenging – make sure that all your posts/responses are no different from 
what you would be happy talking about in public – you must take responsibility for anything 
that you say online

5 SOCIAL MEDIA AND THE LAW

Generally if you conduct yourself on social media in an objective, balanced, informed and 
accurate way, then you should be fine.  Keep your Members Code of Conduct in mind, if you 
breach this policy then it is likely you will have breached the Members Code of Conduct too:

Members Code of Conduct

Please see the following general legal issues which you should be aware of:

 Libel/Defamation if you publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging 
to their reputation, they may take action against you.  This is also true if someone posts 
something libellous on your site and you don’t take swift action to remove it.  Be aware 
that the courts can require you to pay compensation in a successful libel claim taken 
against you.  It is very unlikely the Council will provide legal advice or support in defamation 
matters.

 Copyright using images or text from a copyrighted source, e.g.  using bits of publications 
or other people’s photos, without getting permission is likely to breach copyright laws.  
Don’t publish anything you are not sure about without checking first.  See UK Copyright 
Law Factsheet.

 Data Protection it is unlawful to publish personal data about individuals unless they have 
given you their permission.  As a councillor you are a data controller and so are personally 
responsible for what you publish.

 Incitement it is a criminal offence to incite any criminal act.  It is a criminal offence to make 
a discriminatory remark about anyone based on a protected characteristic as defined in 
the Equality Act.

 Harassment it is a criminal offence to repeatedly pursue a campaign against someone 
where this is likely to cause alarm, nuisance or distress.

 Equality take care in publishing anything that might be considered sexist, racist, ageist, 
homophobic or anti-faith to avoid for claims for a breach of the equality laws or the 
Members Code of Conduct.

 Legal Proceedings you might find that you are contacted about on-going legal 
proceedings or those proceedings which have not yet been started by or against the 
Council.  It is best not to comment and refer the matter to Legal Services.  As an elected 
representative of the Council it is possible for your comments to be referred to in such 
court proceedings.  If you feel there might be an underlying motive behind the query or 

Page 17



someone is encouraging you to give a view on a special case, the best option is to put the 
person in contact with the relevant service at the council.

 Elections and Voting you should not post anything onto social media concerning votes 
when attending election counts or postal vote verifications.  The Representation of the 
People Act 2002 is clear that it is a criminal offence to publish any information regarding 
the result of an election that may affect the result of that election or undermine the secrecy 
of the ballot – S.66A Prohibition on publication of exit polls (1).  No person shall, in the 
case of an election to which this section applies, publish before the poll is closed– (a) any 
statement relating to the way in which voters have voted at the election where that 
statement is (or might reasonably be taken to be) based on information given by voters 
after they have voted.

6 SOCIAL MEDIA AND THE LAW

Some do’s and don’ts

 Do think before you message! Do not say anything that you would not be prepared to 
discuss face to face with anyone, or be prepared to be minuted in a public meeting – social 
media is like a public record, a digital footprint, of everything you say – even if you later 
delete a post

 Do update your social media regularly – if it becomes redundant, it is better to close it 
rather than appear unresponsive, or uninterested

 Do refrain from publishing anything which you have received in confidence
 Do include photos, videos or links to website information to help you make your points
 Do make sure that you don’t bring the council or your councillor role, into disrepute
 Don’t re-tweet anything you don’t know to be true
 Don’t post comments in haste – particularly when you are feeling angry, have been 

drinking alcohol or your judgement might otherwise be impaired
 Don’t disclose confidential information about people, the council or its business
 Don’t bully or intimidate others – repeated negative comments about or to individuals could 

be interpreted as bullying or intimidation
 Do not deal with casework issues via social media.  There is danger cases could be 

missed, and there are also data protection issues.  If you receive a casework request via 
social media, please forward your council email address and ask their constituent to email 
them directly

7. GLOSSARY OF TERMS

 Blog term derived from ‘weblog’ meaning an internet log or diary/journal
 Blogosphere all blogs collectively on the internet
 Direct Message a message sent via Twitter directly to someone who follows you or who 

you follow
 Facebook an example of social networking
 Flickr photo sharing site
 Follower someone who has chosen to follow you on Twitter
 Friend someone who you have allowed to access your Facebook page – not necessarily 

a real friend
 Forum a virtual discussion area

Page 18



 #Hashtag a hashtag or # is a way of denoting a keyword which can be used as a search 
term on Twitter.

 Instagram a platform for sharing photos and videos
 Microblog short blog e.g.  Twitter using a maximum of 140 characters
 Pinterest a virtual pinboard for creating and sharing images
 RebelMouse a free service that connects to your accounts at services such as Facebook, 

Twitter and/or Instagram.  It integrates all your SM Tweets, postings and blogs 
automatically into one page, boosting your SM presence without you doing anything extra 
as it ‘runs in the background’.  It will save you having to tweet your blogs etc.  to get more 
prominence on search engines

 Retweet to forward a message or Tweet seen on Twitter
 Social networking WhatsApp?, Facebook etc
 Snapchat a photo messaging application for photos, videos, drawings and text
 Spam electronic junk mail
 Trending current popular people or conversations as in ‘trending on Twitter now…’
 Troll someone who disrupts online communities or discussions through unhelpful or 

irrelevant posts
 Tweet a message sent on Twitter
 Tweety Hall a virtual gathering place for councillors with Twitter accounts – search 

@tweetyhall
 Twitter a social media site for sharing short messages limited to 140 characters called 

tweets
 Vimeo A platform for sharing videos and photographs
 You Tube a platform for sharing videos and photographs

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: RISK MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN 2018-19: STATUS 

REPORT
DATE OF DECISION: 10 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Peter Rogers Tel: 023 8083 2835

E-mail: peter.rogers@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: Mel Creighton Tel: 023 8083 4897

E-mail: mel.creighton@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
n/a

BRIEF SUMMARY
The 2018-19 Risk Management Action plan was approved by the Governance 
Committee at the April 2018 meeting. It is considered appropriate for the Committee to 
be provided with a ‘mid-term’ update in respect of the status of the agreed actions. 
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) To note the status of the Risk Management Action Plan 2018-19.
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. The Governance Committee has responsibility to provide independent 

assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the 
internal control and reporting environment, including (but not limited to) the 
reliability of the financial reporting process and the annual governance 
statement. In addition, the Committee needs to satisfy itself that appropriate 
action is being taken on risk and internal control related issues identified by 
the internal and external auditors and other review and inspection bodies.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. Not applicable as Appendix 1 is an update of an agreed Action Plan.
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. The 2018-19 Risk Management Action Plan, approved by the Governance 

Committee at the April 2018 meeting, summarises the range of actions 
considered necessary to ensure that existing good practice is maintained 
and/or risk management arrangements are further developed as appropriate. 

4. Appendix 1 details the current status of the agreed actions noting that the 
plan needs to be flexible in order to reflect the business need.   

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
5. None
Property/Other Page 21

Agenda Item 8



6. None
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
7. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 Part 2 Section 3A(c) 

require the Council to have in place a ‘sound system of internal control which 
includes effective arrangements for the management of risk’.

Other Legal Implications: 
8. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
9. The subject matter of the report is risk management with risk implications only 

arising if actions were not being progressed and/or arrangements were not 
being further developed and refined.    

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
10. None

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: Not applicable

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. Risk Management Action Plan 2018-19: Status Report
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. n/a
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1.
2.

Page 22



18-19 RM $f3ujxnds.docx                                                                                                                                                                                                         Page  1 of 3

RISK MANAGEMENT Action Plan 2018-19: STATUS REPORT

THEME / 
ISSUE

PROPOSED ACTION TARGET LEAD STATUS COMMENT

1. Risk reporting To seek to align the risk reporting cycle with 
the business planning and monitoring 
timetable (c/f from 2017-18).  

Sept 2018 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit

COMPLETED The new service business plan 
template 2019-2021 includes a section 
on ‘risk’ whereby services are required 
to detail risks and to identify and 
implement mitigating actions as 
appropriate.   

2. Service Risk 
Registers

To roll out development of risk registers 
across service areas based on the pilot 
exercise undertaken within Finance & 
Commercialisation. Ideally to align with the 
service business planning process in terms of 
seeking to ensure that the risks relate to key 
service priorities and outcomes (c/f from 
2017-18).   

Sept 2018 Service Management 
Team with Service Lead: 
Risk, Insurance and 
Audit to support and 
facilitate.  

Action 
Deleted

The pilot exercise has identified that 
the resources required to initiate, 
facilitate and oversee the 
development and management of 
individual service risk registers would 
exceed the finite resource available.  
In terms of impact, the focus is 
therefore to be redirected toward 
project risk/decision taking (see New 
Risk 11).       

3. Property Fire 
& Security 

To facilitate and direct a programme of 
property ‘fire and security’ risk reviews either 
at the request of insurance underwriters or in 
response to an area of concern. 

Sept 2018 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit in 
consultation with 
insurers and the 
Responsible Persons 
within the respective 
premises.

COMPLETED The exercise has been completed with 
8 properties having been surveyed by 
a Senior Risk Analyst from Zurich Risk 
Engineering.

4. Risk support 
and advice

To undertake a procurement exercise in order 
to appoint a ‘risk and insurance 
broker/consultant’ (from expiry of the current 
contract).   

Sept 2018 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit

COMPLETED Exemption obtained in order to allow 
for the contract with the current 
provider to be extended until end 
April 2019.  This is to provide 
continuity in respect of the tender for 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix 1



18-19 RM $f3ujxnds.docx                                                                                                                                                                                                         Page  2 of 3

THEME / 
ISSUE

PROPOSED ACTION TARGET LEAD STATUS COMMENT

the ‘leasehold flat buildings insurance’ 
tender.  

5. LATCo – Risk 
Strategy 

To work with relevant officers in order to 
develop an appropriate approach in terms of 
how risk is managed within the LATCo, 
including the relationship with the Strategic 
Risk Register.

Nov 2018 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit in 
consultation with 
relevant officers. 

Deferred Whilst the LATCo is deferred 
consideration is required in respect of 
the risks associated with increased 
trading.

6. Motor Risk 
Management

To undertake a detailed analysis of motor 
claims and to explore loss control options in 
consultation with insurers, as appropriate, 
including exploring the use of the Zurich 
Driver Solutions learning module.  

Jan 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit in 
consultation with Fleet 
Transport and insurers.

In progress An initial review of the Zurich Driver 
Solutions learning module has been 
undertaken however the module is to 
be presented to Fleet Management 
Team for consideration.

7. Property 
Assets 

Undertake a desktop review of the adequacy 
of the sums insured in respect of the housing 
stock with particular emphasis on the high rise 
blocks.  Exercise to be undertaken via use of 
the insurers ‘risk management days’ that are 
provided and funded as part of the current 
insurance contract.  

Jan 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit in 
consultation with 
insurers (risk 
consultancy) and Capital 
Assets.

In progress Discussions have been held with 
insurers and the exercise has been 
scheduled to commence in December 
2018.  The review will comprise a desk 
top valuations of Tower Blocks. 

8. Strategic Risk - 
Assurance

Internal Audit to undertake a periodic sample 
testing exercise in respect of the information 
included on the Strategic Risk Register to 
provide assurance that it reflects an accurate 
position and, where appropriate, is aligned 
with the outcome of any related internal audit 
reviews.  

Mar 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit in 
consultation with the 
Chief Internal Auditor 
and the respective ‘Risk 
Owners’.

In progress Although a formal sample test 
exercise has not yet been undertaken, 
where relevant, Internal Audit review 
findings are considered against the 
content and/or comments on the 
Strategic Risk Register.   

9. Guidance and 
advice 

To ensure that an appropriate and current 
range of risk management and insurance 
guidance documents are available and aligned 
with the requirements of service areas.  

Mar 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit   

Not started Some minor changes were made in 
respect of links to documents 
following the annual insurance 
renewal in April 2018. 

P
age 24



18-19 RM $f3ujxnds.docx                                                                                                                                                                                                         Page  3 of 3

THEME / 
ISSUE

PROPOSED ACTION TARGET LEAD STATUS COMMENT

10. Policy and 
Strategy  

To review and update the Risk Management 
Strategy to ensure that it remains relevant 
and appropriate.  Report any significant 
changes to the Governance Committee.

Mar 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit   

Not started Review to commence in early 2019

NEW

11.

Project Risk To work with the Project Management Office 
in ensuring that a robust and consistent 
approach is taken in respect of risk 
management action plans for key projects.

Jan 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit 
together with the 
Service Lead: 
Programme 
Management Office.

New Action To further build on existing processes. 

NEW

12.

Organisational 
Risk

To work with colleagues in respect of transfer of 
services from Capita back to SCC in respect of the 
key risk considerations as well as insurance 
implications

July 2019 Service Lead: Risk, 
Insurance and Audit 
together with 
colleagues in the PMO 
and other relevant 
service areas.

New Action

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2018-19
DATE OF DECISION: 10 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Elizabeth Goodwin Tel: 023 8083 4616

E-mail: Elizabeth.goodwin@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: Mel Creighton Tel: 023 8083 4897

E-mail: Mel.Creighton@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
n/a

BRIEF SUMMARY
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2017 (PSIAS), requires the Chief Internal 
Auditor (CIA) to provide periodical updates to the Governance Committee on:
• Progress made against the agreed annual audit plan.
• Results of audit activities and
• Management’s response to risk that in the CIA’s judgement maybe 
unacceptable to the Authority
All other PSIAS requirements are communicated in either the charter, strategy or 
annual audit opinion, which are reported separately to this committee at various times 
throughout the year.

Internal Audit Progress for the period 18th July 2018 to the 31st August 2018 is 
covered in the attached Appendix 1.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) To note the Internal Audit Progress report for the period 18 July 2018 
to the 31 August 2018.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards the Chief 

Internal Auditor is required to provide an update on progress against the 
annual audit plan to the Governance Committee for information.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. None
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
4. None

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



Property/Other
5. None
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
6. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 state ‘a relevant body 

must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its 
risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards.

Other Legal Implications: 
7. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
8. The report is for note only, there is no decision to be made.
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
9. None

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. Internal Audit Progress Report for the period 18th July 2018 to the 31st August 

2018.
2. Contract Framework and Procurement Audit Report
3. Payables Audit Report
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

Page 28



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 1 

 

 

 
 

Internal Audit Progress Report 

10th September 2018 Governance Committee 

 

 

Elizabeth Goodwin - Chief Internal Auditor  

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 2 

 

Introduction: The internal audit function is a statutory function for all Local Authorities. Southampton City Council currently has a shared Chief 

Internal Auditor and an in house team of three members of staff, supported under a partnership agreement with Portsmouth City Council.  

Purpose of report: The purpose of this report is to update the committee on the progress of the 2018/19 Audit Plan for the period 1st April 

2018 to 29th August 2018 and highlight any areas of concern that may have arisen during the completed audits. In addition, the results of the 6 

outstanding audits from the 2017/18 audit plan are also included. 

Audit Plan Progress: 

 
 

20% of the Audit Plan has been completed or is in progress as at 29th August 2018. The remaining 80% has yet to commence. This is based on 

102 audits, which includes follow up reviews. 

 

 

 

82

11

3

6

Audit Plan Progress to August 2018

Identified Work in Progress Draft Issued

P
age 30



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 3 

 

 

Completed Audits between 1st April 2018 and 29th August 2018:  
 

 

Project Name Hub Opinion Direction 

No. 

Critical 

Risk 

No. 

High 

Risk 

No. 

Medium 

Risk 

No. 

Low 

Risk 

Summary 

School's Financial Values 

Statement  

Strategy (SD Finance 

& 

Commercialisation)  

Reasonable 

Assurance 

 

- - 1 - 

No High Risk exceptions arose 

PUSH 

Strategy (SD Finance 

& 

Commercialisation)  Assurance 

 

- - - - 

No High Risk exceptions arose 

Supported Housing Scheme 

(Follow Up) 

Operational (SD 

Adults Housing & 

Communities) 

Reasonable 

Assurance 

Previously 

Limited 

Assurance 
- - - - 

Significant progress had been made 

in addressing the risks identified 

during the original audit 

Right to Buy 

Operational (SD 

Adults Housing & 

Communities) 

Reasonable 

Assurance 

 

- 1 1 1 

High risk relates the level of fraud 

checks that are currently 

undertaken on Right to Buy 

applications. 

Residential Units (Follow Up) 

Operational (SD 

Adults Housing & 

Communities) Limited Assurance 

Previously 

Limited 

Assurance - 4 2 1 

All previous exceptions raised are in 

progress but not yet complete 

however audit can evidence that 

progress has been made to reduce 

the risk exposure 

Disabled Facilities Grant 

Strategy (SD Finance 

& 

Commercialisation)  

Reasonable 

Assurance 

 

- - 
- 

2 
- 

No High Risk exceptions arose 

P
age 31



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 4 

 

 

Audits in Draft Report Stage: 

 
Project Name Hub Project Status Projected 

Reporting Date 

Direct Payments Children's 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Families)  Draft November 2018 

Fostering 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Families)  Draft November 2018 

Agency / Temps 

Strategy (SD HR & 

Organisational 

Development)  Draft November 2018 

 

 

Audits in progress: 

 

Project Name Hub Project Status Projected 

Reporting Date 

Local Authority Bus Subsidy 

Strategy (SD Finance 

& 

Commercialisation)  

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

Pest Control 

Operational (SD 

Transactional & 

Universal) 

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

Pupil Referral Unit 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Families)  

Work In 

Progress January 2018 

Care Leavers 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Families)  

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

Children in Need 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

P
age 32



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 5 

 

Families)  

Looked After Children 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Families)  

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

Adoption 

Operational (SD 

Children and 

Families)  

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

DOLS 

Operational (SD 

Adults Housing & 

Communities) 

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

Regeneration Projects 

Operational (SD 

Growth) 

Work In 

Progress January 2019 

Payroll 

Strategy (SD HR & 

Organisational 

Development)  

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

Expenses Travel & Subsistence 

Strategy (SD HR & 

Organisational 

Development)  

Work In 

Progress November 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 6 

 

 

Additional Audit Plan Information: 
 

6 Audits remained in draft from the 2017/18 Audit Plan at the last reporting cycle. An update on the audits is provided below: 

 

Project Name Hub Opinion Direction 

No. 

Critical 

Risk 

No. 

High 

Risk 

No. 

Medium 

Risk 

No. 

Low 

Risk 

Summary 

Procurement & Contract 

Framework (two audits merged 

into one) 

Strategy 

Procurement 

Processes - Limited 

Assurance 

 

1 5 1 - 

See Appendix A 

Procurement 

Compliance - No 

Assurance 

Leisure Contract 

Operations Limited Assurance 

 

- 2 1 - 

The high risk exceptions relate to an 

issue of repair works yet to be 

completed and risk assessments 

undertaken by the contractor are 

not being requested to be held by 

the Council. 

Payables Strategy No Assurance  
- 6 1 1 

See Appendix B 

Health & Safety Strategy Draft  
    

 

Children's Safeguarding  

Operations Limited Assurance 

 

- 1 1 - 

The high risk exception relates to 

GDPR compliance regarding 

permission to share information. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 7 

 

Unplanned Work: 

 

Since 1st April 2018 to 29th August 2018, Internal Audit has provided advice in the following area. (For reference, Advice is only recorded when 

the time taken to provide the advice exceeds 1 hour. 

• Data Analysis and data matching in relation to Duplicate Invoices. Work has been undertaken to use data analytics software to identify 

potential duplicate invoices and or payments with the view to conduct continuous testing in this area 

• Procure to Pay - Internal Audit attended the workshops for this area and assisted in the production of process workflows 

  

P
age 35



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 8 

 

Audit Plan Status/Changes: 

There have been no changes to the Audit Plan since the last update. 

Areas of Concern: 

Two new areas of concern have been raised in relation to two audits that have been given a level of No Assurance. These relate to 

Procurement Compliance and Payables. Summaries of the issues raised for these audits can be found in Appendix A & B 

  

P
age 36



Internal Audit Progress Report -1st April 2018 - 29th August 2018 

 

 

Page 9 

 

KEY:       
Overall Assurance 

Levels: 
Description / Examples 

 

Exception Priority Level Description 

 Assurance 

No issues or minor improvements noted 

within the audit but based on the testing 

conducted, assurance can be placed that 

the activity is of low risk to the Authority 

Low Risk - Improvement 

Very low risk exceptions or recommendations that are classed as 

improvements that are intended to help the service fine tune its control 

framework or improve service effectiveness and efficiency.  An example 

of an improvement recommendation would be making changes to a 

filing system to improve the quality of the management trail.  

Reasonable Assurance 

Control weaknesses or risks were 

identified but overall the activities do 

not pose significant risks to the 

Authority 

Medium Risk 
These are control weaknesses that may expose the system function or 

process to a key risk but the likelihood of the risk occurring is low.  

Limited Assurance 

Control weaknesses or risks were 

identified which pose a more significant 

risk to the Authority 

High Risk 

Action needs to be taken to address significant control weaknesses but 

over a reasonable timeframe rather than immediately.  These issues are 

not “show stopping” but are still important to ensure that controls can 

be relied upon for the effective performance of the service or function.  

If not addressed, they can, over time, become critical.  An example of an 

important exception would be the introduction of controls to detect 

and prevent fraud.  

No Assurance 

Major individual issues identified or 

collectively a number of issues raised 

which could significantly impact the 

overall objectives of the activity that was 

subject to the Audit 

 

Critical Risk 

Control weakness that could have a significant impact upon not only the 

system function or process objectives but also the achievement of the 

organisation’s objectives in relation to: The efficient and effective use of 

resources, The safeguarding of assets, The preparation of reliable 

financial and operational information, Compliance with laws and 

regulations and corrective action needs to be taken immediately. 

 

 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Procurement and Strategic Contract Framework 
 
Executive Summary 
Southampton City Council spends over £300m per annum with third parties on Supplies, Services and Works.  There should be arrangements 

in place for all procurement undertaken which is in line with legislation and also achieves best value.  An audit of the Procurement 

arrangements in place is included within the 2017/18 Audit Plan.  A separate Procurement Compliance Audit is included within the 17/18 Audit 

Plan.  It has been decided to merge the 2 audits and produce one report as the subject matter is interlinked.  

 

The Management of Strategic Contracts is undertaken by the in-house Supplier Management Team and have not been covered as part of this 

audit. 

Achievement of organisation's strategic objectives Assurance Level:  Limited Assurance 

The EU procurement legislation comprises of the Public Contracts Directive 2014, the Concessions Contracts Directive 2014 and the Utilities 

Directive 2014.  These directives set out the EU legal framework for procurement by public authorities and Utilities.  The Public Contracts 

Directive set out procedures which must be followed before awarding a contract to suppliers when it exceeds set thresholds, unless it qualifies 

for a specific exclusion.  The current thresholds are: 

Supplies & Services: £181,302 

Works:  £4,551,413 

Light Touch Regime for Services:  £615,278 

Small lots 

Supplies and services: £65,630 

Works: £820,370 

 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 2



UK legislation for procurement is the Public Contract Regulations 2015, the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Utilities Contracts 

Regulations 2016 these regulations set out the procedures to be followed by any public authority including thresholds, exclusions, transparency 

and awarding contracts.  The main changes that came into effect in February 2016 are: 

 

• Use of Government portal, Contracts Finder - All contracts over £25k should be advertised on this portal unless internal standing orders 
quote otherwise. 

• PQQ's - Should no longer be used for under EU threshold contracts.  Standard questions should be built into the Invitation to tender 
document. 

• To pay the contractor no later than 30 days from the date of invoice 
 

These regulations were implemented to ensure that SME's are given better opportunity within government procurement. 

As noted above the Council has a partnership arrangement in place with Capita to provide procurement services.   

It has been identified from a sample of 25 contracts selected from the Contracts Register (Capita managed register on behalf of the Council) 

that if Capita have been engaged in the procurement there is a sound framework in place that complies with both EU and UK legislation.  As 

detailed further in this report Capita are not always engaged in the procurement process and this is when there appears to be non-compliance 

with Contract Procedure Rules and in some cases legislation. From the selection of payments reviewed this equates to 20% of expenditure, the 

Council is also unable to demonstrate that value for money has been achieved.  It is difficult to ascertain the extent of non-compliance as not all 

contracts are recorded on the Contract Register. It is the Service Directors’ responsibility to ensure that if any Contracts are in place that 

haven’t been procured through the arrangements with Capita that this information is updated on the Contracts Register.  

A Procurement and Contract Management Board is in place that is attended by Council Officers, Capita Senior Managers and Councillors. If 

issues are identified with regard to procurement then they are raised at the board meeting and resolutions identified and included in an on-

going action plan.  A number of the actions are reliant on an e-learning module being introduced for all staff to ensure that they are aware of the 

correct procedures to follow.  A number of initiatives have been undertaken within the Council to improve the awareness of Officers of the 

procurement arrangements in place including holding workshops with Officers from across the Council to explain the process, identify issues 

and inform improvements to the service.  There have also been changes made to the Contract Procedure Rules to help make them clearer and 

a new Procurement Strategy was approved in January 2018. 

P
age 40



The e-learning module was due to be introduced at the Leadership team in December prior to it being available to all staff. The e-learning 

module was not introduced at Leadership team for a number of reasons, including for it to coincide with the introduction of requisitioning, 

however it has now been made available to all staff and is mandatory for all staff who may have any involvement at any level with 

procurement/buying activities and will form part of the induction training, subject to necessary L&D approval The e-learning module provides an 

overview of when council money can be spent (including the spend freeze initiative) and who is responsible for undertaking procurement 

activity in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules. Implementation of the e-learning will reiterate the correct processes to follow and 

assist with identifying whether the current areas of non-conformance to process are a result of lack of understanding or a deliberate act of non-

compliance to procedure.  

Compliance with Policies, Laws and Regulations Assurance Level: No Assurance 

To make public contract opportunities more accessible to Small and Medium sized enterprises (SME’s) Public Contracts Regulations 2015 

introduced obligations for contracting authorities to publish notices to Contracts Finder. Where there has always been OJEU thresholds, the 

2015 Public Contracts Regulations now provides clear national thresholds of £10k for Central Government and £25k for sub-central 

governments and NHS Trusts.  For this Council the threshold is £25k. 

A sample of 25 Contracts were selected from the Contracts Register held by Capita and checked to ensure that where required they had been 

advertised on Contracts Finder.  In all cases where required an advert had been placed.  Within the sample of 25 some contracts have been 

awarded through framework agreements which negates the need to advertise on Contracts Finder if a framework agreement is already in place 

that is accessible by the Council. 

Agresso payment reports for the month of July 2017 were used to identify if expenditure relating to Goods, Works and Services were compliant 

with Legislation.  A random sample of 10 suppliers were selected from this report whereby a single payment was less than £100k.  The 

expenditure relating to these suppliers was then reviewed across the previous 3 years.  It has been identified that payments to 3 of the 

suppliers over this period was in excess of £25k.  

• Company A, £315,797 – Various flooring works 

• Company B, £1,009,719 – guarding and security services 

• Company C, £162,738 – various alarms and detectors 
 

From testing it appears that Capita have not been engaged in the procurement of these works or services (30% of sample tested) and there are 

no current contracts in place.  In the case of Company B an exemption to Contract Procedure Rules was requested in 2017 which was denied 

P
age 41



and the guidance issued by the Procurement Team was to go to the market through the appropriate procurement route.  This action has not 

been completed and the Council are still using Company B for the same services which is in breach of both EU and UK legislation. With regard 

to Company C some market testing has been undertaken however there is no contract in place. 

A further sample of 10 suppliers with a cumulative spend of over £25k within the 2016/17 financial year were selected.  It was identified that 3 

of these contracts could not be found on the Contracts Register held by Capita.  The suppliers are: 

• Company D, £100,642 – works at Wimpson Lane 

• Company E, £255,782 – reactive maintenance 

• Company F, £1,636,762 - sprinkler systems in tower blocks 
 

Further enquiries were undertaken which identified an exemption request had been submitted and approved for Company F due to the urgency 

of works required following the Grenfell Towers incident which is compliant with the Contract Procedure Rules.   

It has been identified that Company D were previously named Company G and that is the name used for the completion of these works.  The 

Council does have a contract in place with Company G however this could not be found on the Contracts Register. 

Company E payments are for reactive maintenance with the majority of works over the period tested being for roof repairs.  There is no 

Contract in place with Company E for these works.  The service area using this supplier has used an advertising portal for some of the works 

undertaken (this has not been tested by audit).  Due to the types of work undertaken being of the same nature this could be classed as 

disaggregation which breaches Contract Procedure rules.  

Safeguarding of Assets Assurance Level: Limited Assurance 

There are forms available on the Intranet for all levels of procurement.  The initial stage of engaging with Capita Procurement is to complete a 

request for contract form (RFC). These are then attached to the project within the project register held by Capita. When reviewing the 

documents attached to each project within Capita SharePoint it was noted that there are various forms and phrases used which could form the 

business case for the procurement.  For example in most cases from a sample of 20 a RFC has been completed, on one of these RFC’s there 

is a section for ‘Proposed procurement justification’ the remaining RFC’s that have been completed ask for ‘Key Requirements’.  In some cases 

a Project Launch document or a Project Mandate document have been completed which is a requirement of the Procurement Guarantee.  It 

appears that there are various forms in place depending on the procurement need which could lead to confusion as to what detail has been 

completed on which form.  The Guarantee forms have been reviewed, simplified and standardised which in turn should help to improve the 

P
age 42



user experience when initiating a procurement exercise.  This action has been taken after the audit testing was completed and has not been 

verified. 

Effectiveness & Efficiency of Operations Assurance Level: Limited Assurance 

Capita procurement have developed a team dedicated to procurement up to £100k.  This team has been set up to help improve value for 

money spend on the lower level contracts.  To enable identification of this spend purchase orders raised in Agresso over £1k are routed to 

Capita for review to ensure that value for money is being achieved and when required the correct procurement route has been followed.  It has 

been identified that purchase orders starting with a ‘600’ prefix are routed to the sub £100k team.  There are a number of other prefix’s used for 

purchase orders within Agresso and these are not routed through the sub £100k team, this expenditure generally relates to care placement 

fees and residential charges however there appears to be other prefix’s i.e. 6200 and 6400 where spend could be influenced by the 

procurement team. 

Housing operations use the Total system for recording goods ordered, these orders do not route through the procurement team.  The annual 

expenditure raised in the Total system is over £7m. Capita sub £100k team have had no influence on this spend.  Audit has not completed any 

testing on spend within the total system for compliance with legislation or Contract Procedure Rules. 

A sample of 20 RFC’s were reviewed to ensure progress had been made in a timely manner.  In 8 cases the procurement process has not 

been completed and the expected contract start date has passed. In some cases this is due to a delayed response from the SCC employee but 

in some cases the project has been reassigned a number of times within the Capita procurement team which in turn appears to have caused 

delays. 

Completion of the audit Assurance Level: 

Procurement Arrangements: Limited Assurance 

Procurement Compliance: No Assurance 

A robust framework for procurement should comply with legislation, provide evidence that value for money has been achieved and also 

recognise best practice.  This audit review has identified significant issues relating to procurement compliance.  Capita provide a procurement 

service for the Council which is compliant with legislation and is generally sound although some improvements could be made relating to 

timescales for completion and document consistency.  The reason for the level of assurance given for the Procurement arrangements in place 

reflect the areas of non-compliance identified which highlights that there is a weakness in control within the procurement arrangements that 

P
age 43



allows for non-compliance to continue.  However the main area of concern is when Capita are not engaged in the procurement process, where 

it has been identified that there are breaches of legislation, no value for money activities undertaken and also breaches of the internal Contract 

Procedure Rules.   

P
age 44



Appendix B 

Appendix B - Payables 

 
Executive Summary  
A fundamental system audit of Payables has been carried out as part of the 2017/18 Audit Plan. The authority’s financial procedures rules set out the 
responsibilities of employees tasked with paying creditors to ensure the authority is paying creditors in a timely, correct manner while minimising the 
risk of fraud and also comply with the Late Payments of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998. This audit has looked at the Agresso accounts payable 
system and the feeder system Total. 
 

Compliance with Policies, Laws and Regulations Assurance Level: Limited Assurance 

Local Government Transparency Code 2015 

One high risk exception has been raised and is currently under investigation, the details of the exception can be found under ISS 7. 
 
The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 makes it mandatory for the authority to publish details of all expenditure that exceeds £500, at least 
on a quarterly basis. The authority is publishing financial spend over £500 in the correct format and frequency to ensure compliance with the Local 
Government Transparency Code 2015. To ensure reports are correctly formatted and do not contain any private and sensitive information the dataset 
must go through a process of anonymisation where some payments to individuals will have the supplier name redacted. In the October to December 
2017 report published anonymisation had not taken place causing payments made to individuals being accessible to any member of the public. The 
report in question also included detailed reasoning for the individual payments due to the file uploaded being the internal file used by service areas to 
check all payments are accounted for before publication. This file contained sensitive personal information relating to payments, for example legal fees 
and foster care payments breaching the Data Protection Act 1998.  
 

 

Safeguarding of Assets Assurance Level: Limited Assurance 

Total – Housing Operations System 

One high risk exception has been raised, under ISS 1, with a number of the agreed actions already implemented and action taken immediately to 

administer access. 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 3



Appendix B 

Although Total access has roles assigned to users these roles do not reflect the level of access members of staff have to the Total system. When staff 

have had access setup it has not been customised for the role they are undertaking which has led to members of staff having a level of access far 

greater than what is required to complete their jobs. Users have the ability to close or cancel jobs, amend or cancel invoices and change the quantity of 

materials used. Although some of these roles would be required for some users to undertake their job effectively, there is currently a lack of 

consideration as to which roles require which level of access and has resulted in an ‘all or nothing’ approach to Total system access. This risk of a lack 

of refined system access is exaggerated with the lack of management oversight into invoices cancelled, the amount of issued credit notes and the 

amount of invoices being paid without a purchase order. 

 

Agresso Privileges 

One low risk exception has been raised as detailed under ISS. 5, an agreed action has been completed to mitigate risk. 

To ensure that access to Accounts Payable privileges are adequately controlled an Agresso access report was requested on users who have full 

access to the supplier Masterfile. Testing found that from a list of 28 users with the MACREDITORS role, 3 (10.71%) no longer needed access due to 

them leaving the authority. At the time of testing this information was provided to the Service Manager who requested that leavers had their access 

removed. Further testing was undertaken on the SUPER role used by the Agresso helpdesk which found that 1 out of 8 users no longer needed 

access due to them leaving the authority. 

 

Effectiveness & Efficiency of Operations Assurance Level: Limited Assurance 

Manager Authorisations 

One high risk exception has been raised under ISS 3. In order to address this issue fully, buy in by services across the authority will need to be 

obtained to reduce the amount of outstanding authorisations. 

 

Before a payment can be made it requires the authorisation of a manager, testing was conducted to ensure that managers were reviewing invoices in 

a timely manner. A review of data extracted from the supplier portal found there were 1,420 invoice payments awaiting authorisation which had been 

received at least 30 days earlier. Which is a breach of the Late Payments of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 for undisputed invoices and the 

P
age 46



Appendix B 

authority could be forced to pay statutory interest on the total gross amount (£858,635.59). These payments were spread over 112 different suppliers 

with Company A accounting for 1,138 (80.14%) of the 1,420 late payments. There were 71 different approvers who were responsible for authorising 

these late payments with a further 33 payments having a blank authoriser. These late payments were further broken down into the system they 

originated from, out of the 1,420 late payments, 1,246 (87.75%) originated on Total, 167 (11.76%) on Agresso and 7 (0.49%) on Paris. 

 

Goods Received Notes & Auto Matched Payments 

One high risk exception has been raised under ISS 2. This finding has already identified as a priority during implementation of the new 'Enterprise 
Resource Planning' upgrade to 'Business World' with action going to be taken immediately to no longer provide the option to bypass goods received 
notes. This will require buy in by services to ensure this doesn’t significantly increase the amount of late payments. 
 

A goods received note (GRN) is an internal document which is designed to record and confirm that the items received match the purchase order 

before payment is made. At present the payment run bypasses goods received notes meaning that orders are put into the payment run without the 

validation that they have been received in the correct quantity and are not faulty or damaged. Instead if the Bypass MGRN box is ticked then the 

invoice goes to the authoriser again before the payment is made.  

Automated payments reduce the amount of manual intervention required due to the accounts payable team not having to go through the purchase 
order, goods received note and invoice for individual orders, instead only having to deal with payments where there is a discrepancy between these 
documents. Out of the 62,458 payments made this financial year up to the point of testing, only 5,337 (8.55%) auto matched due to a goods received 
note being completed and matching the purchase order and invoice. A further 129 payments would have auto matched but were over the £10,000 limit 
so the workflow sent them to be authorised. Furthermore, at the time of testing no tolerances levels were setup in Agresso to auto match minor 
discrepancies. 
 
 

Duplicate Payments 

One high risk exception has been raised under ISS 4. Moving forward audit will conduct regular data analytics testing to aid the service in the 

identification of potential duplicate payments.  

A spread sheet of payments was extracted from the supplier portal and data analysis software was used to detect any duplicate payments to test the 

mechanisms in place to avoid and detect duplicate entries. The data analysis software produced four reports which listed 88 payments which had the 

possibility of being duplicates. From this list testing was conducted on 25 and found 15 of the 25 payments were potentially duplicate payments due to 

P
age 47



Appendix B 

them having no discernible differences in detail. The value of the payment and corresponding duplicate totalled £175,241.39, meaning that the 

authority paid at least £87,620.70 in repeat payments. For three of these duplicate payments recovery action had already been undertaken after they 

had been identified by the Accounts Payable team or individual service areas. If this sample was consistent over all 88 of the possible duplicate 

payments then there is potential for 53 duplicate payments to have occurred over the seven month period. 

 

Sensitive Data on Invoices 

One high risk exception has been raised under ISS 8. Work will be undertaken immediately between nominees from Legal, Children’s Services and 
Finance to consider new arrangements that work within available resources.  
 
During the suspected duplicate testing three (12%) invoices were identified that had the name and date of birth of a child written on them. The invoices 
were found to be for services of a sensitive personal nature. Further testing was conducted by searching the SC200 cost centre and found personal 
data being recorded since at least 2008 where an individual’s name was recorded next to a payment for a psychiatric test. Testing also found 
payments for several other types of fees include paternity tests which the three children of the parent in question had their names and date of births 
recorded, a cognitive assessment and family court fees. The Agresso helpdesk provided an access report which concluded 538 users were able to 
view invoices and financial information under the cost code these payments were coded to.  
 
 

Staff Training and Procedure Notes 

No issues have been raised with the training and documentation provided to the Account Payable & Client Monies team. 
 
To ensure new starters within Accounts Payable are provided with adequate training they will be assigned a buddy who will demonstrate to them how 
to complete certain processes and as they grow into the role they will be given greater responsibilities. Once management is happy that they have had 
the necessary training and have demonstrated the right skills for a specified task this will be recorded on the Skills Matrix. The Skills Matrix is 
comprehensive and lists responsibilities for scanning, creditors, technicians, adults and CMS into 90 separate tasks. Furthermore, staff performance in 
undertaking invoice processing on Db Capture and Total is monitored against errors found during the daily audit undertaken by supervisors. 
 

As part of the review, Internal Audit observed the payment run procedures to ensure that they accurately reflect the processes and procedures in 

place. From this walk through and an analysis of the procedure documentation, Internal Audit can conclude that the payment run documentation is 

comprehensive enough to ensure that there can be no operational ambiguity in regards to the payment run process. There was also an analysis 

P
age 48



Appendix B 

undertaken on the maintenance of the supplier Masterfile procedure documentation which is comprehensive but the documentation needs some minor 

revision to accurately reflect the current procedures in place. This position was originally highlighted in the initial audit meeting and work is underway to 

update this documentation. 

 

Reliability & Integrity of Data Assurance Level: Reasonable Assurance 

Duplicate Suppliers 

One medium risk exception has been raised under ISS 6. Moving forward audit will conduct regular data analytics testing to aid the service in the 

identification of potential duplicate suppliers in the Masterfile. 

The processes and controls in place in the accounts payable team ensure that new suppliers records added to the supplier Masterfile are sufficiently 

validated against invoices before getting authorised. Any request to amend a supplier record must be in writing whilst requests requiring a change to 

bank details must be validated by contacting the company using contact details currently on file. Any change of bank details also requires a change of 

bank details form to be completed and signed off by the person who filled in the form, the person who updated Agresso and the person who checked 

the amendments. When the necessary changes have been completed the paperwork needs to be passed over to another member of the team to be 

checked and completed. Testing was conducted to ensure that the supplier Masterfile was free from duplication using data analysis software. It was 

found that 32 (0.41%) out of the 7850 suppliers had at least one duplicate supplier entry on the supplier Masterfile.  

 

Completion of the audit Assurance Level: No Assurance 

Six high, one medium and one low risk exception have been raised as a result of this audit. Based on the testing conducted Internal Audit can offer no 

assurance that the payment processes currently in place are of low risk to the authority or that they are safeguarding the authority’s funds. Although 

the payment runs taking place are set up to run effectively and payments are being made, adherence to the defined process is not taking place across 

the authority resulting in a significant number of incidents which are having a detrimental impact on the control framework in this area. 

 

 

P
age 49



Appendix B 

ASSURANCE LEVELS 

The overall assurance is given on the activity that has been audited.  

These levels are based on the areas tested within the audit as noted with the Objectives & Scope. 

 

Levels: Description / Examples 

Assurance No issues or minor improvements noted within the audit but based on the 

testing conducted, assurance can be placed that the activity is of low risk 

to the Authority 

Reasonable Assurance Control weaknesses or risks were identified but overall the activities do not 

pose significant risks to the Authority 

Limited Assurance Control weaknesses or risks were identified which pose a more significant 

risk to the Authority 

No Assurance Major individual issues identified or collectively a number of issues raised 

which could significantly impact the overall objectives of the activity that 

was subject to the Audit 

 

P
age 50



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: QUARTERLY HR STATISTICS
DATE OF DECISION: 10 SEPTEMBER 2018 
REPORT OF: SERVICE DIRECTOR, HR AND OD 

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Janet King Tel: 023 8083 2378

E-mail: Janet.king@southampton.gov.uk

Chief Executive: Name: Richard Crouch Tel: 023 8083 4428
E-mail: Richard.crouch@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None. This report contains no personal information relating to specific individuals.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

i. To note the Quarter 1 2018/9 HR statistics as requested.
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. The Governance Committee requested quarterly, council wide information on 

key employment data covering disciplinaries, dismissals, and referrals to the 
police, suspensions and grievances. The format for the information was 
agreed with the Committee for reports from November 2017 onwards.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None.   
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. Quarter 1: In the period April – June 2018 the Council had:

A total of 6 dismissals:
 3 on disciplinary grounds
 2 as a result of Phase 3 service restructures (1 in Adult, Housing and 

Communities, 1 in Transaction and Universal Services) 
 1 during probationary period 

Plus
 1 suspension which is now concluded 
 No Step 3 grievance resolution cases
 3 Appeals against dismissal with the dismissal decision upheld in 

each case
4. Our HR policies are regularly reviewed for legislative compliance and 

business effectiveness. There have been no revisions since those approved 
at HR and OD Board and CMT and formally published in November 2017. 

5. Case work is supported by the HR Advisor to the service area to ensure 

Page 51

Agenda Item 10



application of correct policies and procedures and consistency of practice. 
The monitoring is tracked by the HR Management team to help identify any 
specific areas or issues of concern which require additional investigation, 
specific interventions or support. The data highlights no key areas of concern 
in respect of any specific service at this time. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
6. None.
Property/Other
7. Not applicable.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
8. S.101 Local Government Act 1972 and associate employment legislation
Other Legal Implications: 
9. None
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
10. None

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 

1. Q1 table of data
Documents In Members’ Rooms

None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and Safety 
Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out?

No

Other Background Documents
Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None

Page 52



Southampton City Council - Quarterly Governance Stats
Quarter 1 (April '18 - June '18)

Service Area
Disciplinaries Dismissals Resolutions Suspensions Appeals

Final WW Dismissed Referral to Police Total Dismissals Capability Disciplinary Health Probation Restructures Other Commentary Step 3 Resolutions Total Suspensions Length of Suspensions Number Decision Upheld
Adults, Housing & Communities 0 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Children & Families 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Digital & Business Operations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Finance & Commercialisation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 1 1
Human Resources & Org Development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Intelligence Insight & Communications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Legal & Governance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Public Health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0
Quality & Integration 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0 0

Transactions & Universal Services 0 1 0 3 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1

Suspended from 26/06,
returned to work on

18/07 2 2
Southampton City Council (Total) 0 3 0 6 0 3 0 1 2 0 0 1 3 3

Quarter 2 (July '18 - Sept. '18)

Service Area
Disciplinaries Dismissals Resolutions Suspensions Appeals

Final WW Dismissed Referral to Police Total Dismissals Capability Disciplinary Health Probation Restructures Other Commentary Step 3 Resolutions Total Suspensions Length of Suspensions Number Number upheld
Adults, Housing & Communities
Children & Families
Digital & Business Operations
Finance & Commercialisation
Growth
Human Resources & Org Development
Intelligence Insight & Communications
Legal & Governance
Public Health
Quality & Integration
Transactions & Universal Services
Southampton City Council (Total)

Quarter 3 (Oct. '18 - Dec. '18)

Service Area
Disciplinaries Dismissals Resolutions Suspensions Appeals

Final WW Dismissed Referral to Police Total Dismissals Capability Disciplinary Health Probation Restructures Other Commentary Step 3 Resolutions Total Suspensions Length of Suspensions Number Number upheld
Adults, Housing & Communities
Children & Families
Digital & Business Operations
Finance & Commercialisation
Growth
Human Resources & Org Development
Intelligence Insight & Communications
Legal & Governance
Public Health
Quality & Integration
Transactions & Universal Services
Southampton City Council (Total)

Quarter 4 (Jan '19 - March '19)

Service Area
Disciplinaries Dismissals Resolutions Suspensions Appeals

Final WW Dismissed Referral to Police Total Dismissals Capability Disciplinary Health Probation Restructures Other Commentary Step 3 Resolutions Total Suspensions Length of Suspensions Number Number upheld
Adults, Housing & Communities
Children & Families
Digital & Business Operations
Finance & Commercialisation
Growth
Human Resources & Org Development
Intelligence Insight & Communications
Legal & Governance
Public Health
Quality & Integration
Transactions & Universal Services
Southampton City Council (Total)

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes Of Previous Meeting (Including Matters Arising)
	6 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT
	7 Social Media Policy for Members
	Appendix

	8 Risk Management Action Plan 2018-19 : Status Report
	Appendix

	9 Internal Audit Progress Report 2018-19
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	10 Quarterly HR Statistics
	Quarterly Governance Stats - Q1 '18 - '19.xlsx


